RECEIVED

Oct 03 2022

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Letitia Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-000311

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

vs.

Joshua Jeter,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Elizabeth Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
Bar No. 72555
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, SC 29204
(803) 445-1333
elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com

Ranee Sanders
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
Bar No. 100073
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, SC 29204
(803) 445-1333
ranee@franklinbestlaw.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the Court Undertook an Adequate *Aiken v. Byers* Inquiry.

II. Whether the Court Assumed Facts with no Evidentiary Basis in its Order.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury convicted Joshua Jeter of murder, armed robbery, and unlawful possession of a pistol by a person under the age of twenty-one March 17, 2006. Ex. 3, sentencing sheets. He was found not guilty of burglary, but guilty of attempted burglary. Ex. 3, Sentencing sheets. He was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole for murder. Trial. 733; sentencing sheet. Josh moved for resentencing on July 27, 2015, after the Supreme Court of South Carolina issued its opinion in *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). Motion. On August 2, 2016, Chief Justice Pleicones assigned the case to the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin—ordering counsel be appointed within thirty days and a scheduling order including the date of a hearing on the merits be issued within sixty days. Sup. Ct. Order.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only.” *State v. Cross*, 427 S.C. 465, 473, 832 S.E.2d 281, 285 (2019). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” *In re M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

ARGUMENT

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Josh was indicted in February 2005 for the murder of Tevaris Howze, and later indicted for burglary, armed robbery, and unlawful possession of a pistol by a person under twenty-one. Indictments. Lance Lyles was similarly charged based on his involvement in Howze's death. At the time of the murder, both defendants were sixteen years old. Trial Tr. 422, 557. The two proceeded to a joint trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole during March 13–17, 2006.

At trial, the State presented evidence that Josh and Lance went to Clarence Spicer's apartment on the night of December 8, 2004. Spicer testified Lance knocked on the door and when he opened it, he saw Josh behind Lance wearing a ski mask and holding a gun. Trial Tr. 114. He assumed they were there to rob him. Trial Tr. 118. Concerned, Spicer tried to shut the door, but they pressed against it, and a gun went off, striking and killing Howze, who was on the couch inside. Trial Tr. 119. Josh and Lance fled. Trial Tr. 152.

Eventually, police identified Lance and Josh as suspects and a search of Lance's home revealed several .22 copper plated lead bullets, the same type that killed Howze. Trial Tr. 306. 312, 313. Another resident of the apartments indicated he saw two individuals running after he heard gunfire and both defendants had guns. Trial 164. The murder weapon was never discovered.¹

Josh and Lance ultimately proceeded to a joint trial, both testifying in their own defense and offering differing details. They both at least agreed, however, they had gone over to Spicer's house to buy marijuana, and then things got out of hand. Trial. Tr. 442, 549, 552. Although both

¹ It appears from the trial transcript that initially Josh went to trial first, but just as that trial began Josh's mother turned over a gun to the police. Trial Tr. 462. The trial was stopped so the gun could be analyzed. Trial Tr. 462.

Lance's counsel and the solicitor suggested Josh and his family had produced a .25 caliber gun to try to get him out of the murder conviction, Josh and his mother both testified to the contrary. Trial Tr. 442, 477, 481, 483–84.

The jury found both defendants guilty of murder, armed robbery, unlawful possession of a pistol by a person under the age of twenty-one, and attempted burglary. Trial Tr. 724–25. They were each sentenced to life without the possibility of parole on the murder charge. Trial Tr. 733, 735.

Josh moved for resentencing on July 27, 2015, after the Supreme Court of South Carolina issued its opinion in *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014). Motion. On August 2, 2016, Chief Justice Pleicones assigned the case to the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin for resentencing. Sup. Ct. Order. Judge Verdin held Josh's resentencing hearing December 8, 2021.

At the hearing, Josh presented testimony of Janet Vogelsang, who performed a bio-psycho-social assessment of Josh. She discussed how his parents were married when he was born, but around that time his father became addicted to crack cocaine. Sent. Tr. 56. This caused strain on the parent's relationship, which became violent; Josh was even caught in the crossfire. Sent. Tr. 57, 58; 84. Evidence demonstrated that from Josh's infancy he was subjected to instability and conflict at home. Sent. Tr. 59. He also sustained a significant head injury at five months old when he fell from his car seat out of the car and hit his head on the pavement. Sent. Tr. 58. His mother brought him in three days later when he was having trouble breathing and found he had suffered a skull fracture on the parietal bone and possibly on the occipital bone as well. Sent. Tr. 58.

His father's drug addiction ultimately resulted in the dismantling of his family and his mother was forced to support Josh and his older brother alone. Sent. Tr. 59. Ms. Vogelsang observed how "[t]he presence of a parent, the attention of a parent, the guidance of the parent has

everything to do with how children master [the stages of development from birth to twenty-five] and especially how they come to make good choices and to be responsible.” Sent. Tr. 60.

She discussed that his school records reflected a fluctuation in his behavior, which began to decline when his parents divorced. Sent. Tr. 62. However, there were no notes to his mother, recommendations of testing, or police involvement present. Sent. Tr. 62. His grades remained average to above average throughout grades school. Sent. Tr. 60–61. However, he was moved to an alternative middle school in seventh grade and started ninth grade at an alternative high school. Sent. Tr. 63-64.

His situation continued to deteriorate, and he was accused of assaulting a coach, which resulted in his arrest and booking at the South Carolina Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ). Sent. Tr. 64. DJJ noted the lack of structure and supervision in the home, that he was using marijuana daily, and that he was selling marijuana and crack. Sent. Tr. 65. However, during his DJJ stay, which lasted twenty-one days, he was reportedly respectful, practiced self-control, and did his work. Sent. Tr. 67. Ms. Vogelsang reported this reflected how he was able to thrive when he was given the structure so to do, and that this was common for traumatized children living in high stress homes—the best part of their day is at home. Sent. Tr. 67. DJJ recommended family counseling, and more specific counseling for anger management, decision-making, impulse control, which is typical where a child has sustained head injury like Josh. Sent. Tr. 68. Josh attended a few, but never received the benefit of completing any of this care. Sent. Tr. 68, 78.

Members of Josh’s family also testified. His mother spoke to about the difficulties the family endured in his youth, with her frequent fights with his father and how Josh spent time with his father after they divorced even though she knew he was a bad influence. Sent. Tr. 78, 80. She also stated Josh was home alone for long hours when he was young and that although he asked to

live somewhere else, she had him stay because she hoped they would pull through the hard times sooner. Sent. Tr. 80. She said she was never present when he was questioned by police and the first few times they questioned him, she did not know until afterward. Sent. Tr. 81.

His aunt testified that as a young boy, Josh would frequently come to their house late in the evening—too late for a child to be wandering outside—wanting a place to sleep. Sent. Tr. 85. His cousin, who now works with the Department of Social Services, discussed the impact of growing up in an environment without anyone to talk to in a dangerous neighborhood and how without experiencing it, people have trouble understanding what it was like to deal with on a day-to-day basis the things they did as children. Sent. Tr. 92.

Finally, Josh testified about how growing up he did not feel safe. His mother had to work most of the time and his father did not provide a sense of security or stability. Sent. Tr. 96. He spoke to his remorse but also his belief that God makes no mistakes and if he got out he could be success story, educating people about the violence that landed him in prison and getting to help raise his son. Sent. Tr. 98.

Judge Verdin took the matter under advisement and issued a two-page order December 30, 2021, resentencing Josh to fifty years' incarceration for the murder. Order. This appeal followed.

ANALYSIS

Josh was investigated, charged, tried, and sentenced during a time when the legal protections for our youth had just begun developing.² Our criminal justice system in 2006 operated

² Josh was indicted within weeks of the USSC's decision in *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), where it held that the Eighth Amendment forbid the imposition of death on juveniles, and finally began to speak with force as to how the Constitution would not permit states to clip the wings of a youth who had not yet learned what it means to fly. *See id.* at 573–74 (“When a juvenile offender commits a heinous crime, the State can exact forfeiture of some of the most basic liberties, but the State cannot extinguish his life and his potential to attain a mature understanding of his own humanity.”).

without understanding for the now well-documented differences in juvenile defendants and how those differences should remain at the forefront of our prosecution of accused youth. Sixteen years later, Josh should finally have received some understanding from the State and the courts that his culpability is shaped by his youth and immaturity when the crimes were committed. What he received instead was a barely a nod at these constitutional principles by the court, which seemed more willing to follow arguments by the State. Those argument reflected a deep failure to comprehend the constitutional significance of youth that has been so fully discussed and emphasized in our highest court’s jurisprudence.³

Josh was convicted of a serious crime, one committed when he was a teenager enduring an adolescence lacking in safety and reliability that was, as his cousin noted, completely unimaginable for most people. He was repeatedly questioned by the police without a parent present, at times under questionable circumstances. He failed to share, even with his attorney, that he still had the gun he carried that night in his possession until his first trial had already started, clearly to his detriment. As our caselaw evolves and the specific implications of certain fundamental rights are expounded upon, we must assume every constitutional officer undertakes to protect and keep

³ Since Josh’ conviction, the USSC’s caselaw has naturally extended to prohibit sentencing juveniles to life without parole for non-homicide crimes, and mandating consideration of age in adjudging the voluntariness of a defendant’s statements. *Graham v. Fla.*, 560 U.S. 48, 76 (2010) (“An offender’s age is relevant to the Eighth Amendment, and criminal procedure laws that fail to take defendants’ youthfulness into account at all would be flawed.”); *J.D.B. v. North Carolina*, 564 U.S. 261, 265 (2011) (holding a child’s age properly informs the custody analysis pursuant to *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)). Then in *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), the USSC held mandatory life without parole sentencing schemes for juveniles “prevents those meting out punishment from considering a juvenile’s ‘lessened culpability’ and greater ‘capacity for change,’ and runs afoul [the] requirement of individualized sentencing for defendants facing the most serious penalties” and therefore held “mandatory life without parole for those under the age of 18 at the time of their crimes violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on ‘cruel and unusual punishments.’” *Id.* at 465 (internal citation omitted).

secure these rights. In response to *Miller*, our Supreme Court of South Carolina recognized the dangers inherent in a sentencing structure lacking acute attentiveness to the juvenility of a defendant, and held in *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), that a youthful offender is entitled to an individualized hearing prior to forestalling his hope for a future and redemption. This pronouncement was unequivocal in its directive that courts consider the specified hallmarks of youth. *Id.* at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577. But that was not done here.

Josh's life deserves more than cursory review, and the Constitution demands it.

I. The Sentencing Court Failed to Perform a Proper *Aiken v. Byers* Inquiry.

The sentencing court's discussion of its constitutionally mandated inquiry is profoundly superficial and incomplete. This failure not only reflects an error of law in the application of caselaw, but also in the imprecision of its holding, which is too vague to allow meaningful appellate review.

Prior to sentencing a defendant who was convicted of a murder committed during his youth to life without parole, a court must conduct an individualized hearing where “the mitigating hallmark features of youth are fully explored.” *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 545, 765 S.E.2d at 578. Specifically, this inquiry *must* include:

(1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including “immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence”; (2) the “family and home environment” that surrounded the offender; (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender's participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him; (4) the “incompetencies associated with youth—for example, [the offender's] inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or [the offender's] incapacity to assist his own attorneys”; and (5) the “possibility of rehabilitation.”

Aiken, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (quoting *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 477–78). Courts are thus required to engage in a meaningful consideration of a defendant's youth and the attendant

considerations that accompany that developmental stage of life. Specifically, *Aiken v. Byars* noted that “*Miller* does more than ban mandatory life sentencing schemes for juveniles; it establishes an affirmative requirement that courts fully explore the impact of the defendant’s juvenility on the sentence rendered.” *Aiken*, 410 S.C. 534, 543, 765 S.E.2d 572, 577 (2014). These sentiments were echoed with more force by the USSC in *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 577 U.S. 190 (2016), where it clarified “*Miller*, then, did more than require a sentencer to consider a juvenile offender’s youth before imposing life without parole; it established that the penological justifications for life without parole collapse in light of ‘the distinctive attributes of youth.’” *Id.* at 208 (quoting *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 472).

The Order does not reflect this affirmative requirement to reconsider the penological justifications of Josh’s sentence in light of his youth at the time the crime was committed. The barely-two-page order offers a quote from *Aiken v. Byars* and a perfunctory two sentences dedicated to those *five* considerations: “The family and home environment of the Petitioner was not structured, as his father was not present in the home and his mother was often at work leaving Petitioner mostly unsupervised. The Court heard testimony that, in structured environments, Petitioner has, for the more part, done well.” Order 2. Saving for discussion in the next section how these comments are not supported by the record, they only relate to his home life (second factor) and possibly his potential of rehabilitation as to the statement on structured environments (fifth factor). That leaves three entirely unaddressed. Hardly a full exploration of his juvenility.

Because the Order fails to reflect any consideration of most of the factors, it fundamentally fails to provide a platform for review.⁴ For this reason, the court should remand for findings

⁴ Not only does the court fail to meaningfully discuss the *Aiken v. Byars*, but the order fails to rule one way or the other about whether it considered objected-to evidence. The State offered several exhibits into evidence including Josh’s disciplinary record for the South Carolina Department of

consistent with the mandate in *Aiken in Byars*. See generally *In re Treatment & Care of Luckabaugh*, 351 S.C. 122, 133, 568 S.E.2d 338, 343 (2002) (noting that “findings must be sufficient to allow this Court, sitting in its appellate capacity, to ensure the law is faithfully executed below” and vacating noncompliant order).

II. The Order Assumes Facts with no Evidentiary Basis.

To the extent this Court believes the Order provides sufficient basis for review, the sentencing court similarly abused its discretion by misapprehending evidence relevant to Josh’s youth and relying on the State’s assumptions which are unsupported by the evidence.

Returning to the court’s reference to his childhood, the Order erroneously downplays the tragic circumstances of Josh’s childhood by characterizing it as lacking structure because his mother worked a lot and his father “was not present in the home.” Order. 2. The evidence presented is not simply that he was a latchkey kid with a hardworking single mother. The reality is that Josh’s father was addicted to crack cocaine and the formative years of Josh’s life were characterized by the constant stress his father’s addiction placed on the family. Sent. Tr. 57–59. His parents fought frequently, at times violently, in front of him and even injuring him on occasion. Sent. Tr. 58, 80-81, 84. They divorced when Josh was in third grade and his mother had to support her two sons essentially by herself, which meant she had to work long hours and Josh was left to taking care of himself. Sent. Tr. 59, 77-78. Josh would still see his father some of those afternoons, but his father was still addicted to crack and lived in rough area of town with guns and violence in the streets. Sent. Tr. 62. He was using and dealing in drugs by the time he got to high school. Sent. Tr. 65.

Corrections. Sent. Tr. 7. Counsel objected and the court delayed ruling, instead stating “I’m going to allow the evidence to be presented at this time. I’ll make the final decision on that when I issue my order.” Sent. Tr. 10.

His mother similarly lived in a rough area with break-ins; all his Christmas presents were stolen one year. Sent. Tr. 63. So he grew up without the benefit of safety, comfort, or an adult in whom he could find solace, and instead was surrounded by the instability that engenders hypervigilance and distrust. The Order is unfaithful to the facts and undermines the analysis of this the one factor it spoke to directly.

Furthermore, the sentencing court puts unwarranted weight on the State's arguments, noting it:

also considered arguments from the State that Petitioner has, for the most part, failed to take responsibility for the shooting death which occurred in 2004. Petitioner testified at the hearing that he never intended to rob the victim, that he hadn't brought the gun, and that he was "merely present" at the crime scene. This testimony is inconsistent with the evidence presented at Petitioner's trial.

Order, 2. These conclusions are problematic for several reasons. Initially, it is not quite correct that his statements at sentencing were "inconsistent with the evidence presented at [his] trial." Josh never denies having a gun but stated at the sentencing hearing, entirely consistent with his trial testimony, that he brought a gun the night of the shooting.⁵ Compare Trial Tr. 425, with Sent. Tr. 101. As to his other statements, a review of the trial transcript shows he and Lance both testified they had no intention of robbing anyone when they went to Spicer's house. Trial Tr. 446-47, 555. Josh also testified at trial that he was standing back from Lance as Spicer opened the door and thought they were going to be invited inside to buy marijuana when Lance pulled his gun, Trial Tr. 434, and the judge saw fit to charge the jury on mere presence, Trial Tr. 712. So the jury may not have believed that evidence, but that is not the same as stating that such evidence was not adduced at trial, or suggesting Josh himself was inconsistent.

⁵ To the extent the Order's reference to "the gun" refers more specifically to "the gun that killed the victim," that holding would also be in error for the reasons discussed *infra*.

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