**RECEIVED**

**Jul 03 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Letitia Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000311  
2005-GS-42-000888

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

JOSHUA JETER, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar #5758

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

BARRY BARNETTE  
Solicitor, 7<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor  
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306

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

The initial witness for Jeter at the hearing was Jeter’s defense counsel, Julia Patricia “Pat” Anderson. ROA p. 36-37. The State objected to keep out issues related to plea negotiations. ROA p. 36-38. Judge Verdin allowed admission for purpose of the hearing. ROA p. 36-37.<sup>6</sup> Anderson stated she represented Jeter and that there was no offer made by the State to plead guilty prior to the trial. ROA p. 38.<sup>7</sup> She claimed Jeter wanted to plead guilty during the trial after an offer was made, but claimed it had to be jointly done with Lyles, but his co-defendant refused. ROA p. 38-39. She claimed she heard through Vieth that it was contingent on both accepting and Lyles had refused. ROA p. 38-39. [This was later disputed by counsel Vieth at the hearing].

---

<sup>6</sup> Respondent notes that issues related to the nature and existence of disputed plea offers were also set forth in 2010 PCR hearing in Jeter v. State, 2009-CP-42-1221. The S. C. Court of Appeals denied certiorari in that action in Jeter v. State, Appellate Case No. 2010-170031, Order, S.C. Ct PCR App. Dec. 13, 2012. This Court can take judicial notice of its records. In the appendix in that proceeding includes the PCR testimony of Jeter and Patricia Anderson related to possible offers. PCR App. p. 825-826, 836-838 (Jeter’s version), PCR App. p. 855-856,857-860.

<sup>7</sup> This is inconsistent with her PCR testimony when she said she did not recall if a plea offer was made, although she felt the State had an air-tight case against the defendants. PCR App. 855.

On cross-examination, the State challenged the assertion of a plea offer and pointed out there was no record of any plea offer in the trial transcript. Counsel Anderson claimed co-defendant's counsel Vieth had some information about it. She noted that during the trial after the jury was picked, her client produced a .25 caliber weapon which he claimed was the weapon he took to crime. ROA p. 40-41. It was brought by Jeter's mother to the Solicitor's office and caused a delay in the start of the trial. ROA p. 41. It was also developed that Jeter gave various versions of the incident: 1.) denied being at Rose Hill Apartments; 2.) there but no involvement; 3.) there with gun and mask on. ROA p. 41-42.

Anderson noted that there was a difference in the defense versions at trial between Jeter and Lyles as to who was responsible for the shooting. However, it was noted that Spicer only saw one gun with the person with the mask, and it was not Lyles who Spicer later identified as the person with the hoodie and gold grill (teeth). ROA p. 234. ROA p.43. Contrary to the record ROA. p. 260, Anderson maintained it was established that Lyles had the gun that was shut in the door. ROA p. 44-45. See ROA p. 235-236, 260.<sup>8</sup> She claimed the .25 was the gun that Jeter had with him that night which was not the murder weapon. Solicitor Barnette noted evidence was presented at trial which suggested the presentation of the gun by Jeter's other was the product of a conspiracy with Jeter. ROA p. 47-52. Barnette claimed the evidence of the phone call plan was produced at trial by Jeter's co-defendant's counsel, Rick Vieth, as Lyles Exhibit #1 at the 2006 trial. See ROA p. 591-596. Also, ROA p.600-610.

---

<sup>8</sup> Both defendants claimed the other defendant had the weapon that was fired and resulted in the death as set forth earlier in the brief. What was established was that Spicer only saw the Appellant who wore the mask with the only gun he saw. Additionally, it was established that after shots were fired, two men wearing masks with guns were seen running near the area. ROA p. 282-285, 292. (Testimony of Scott Hill).

It was developed that contested evidence about the plea offer alleged by Anderson was previously presented at the trial and earlier PCR proceedings. ROA p. 50-52. ROA p. 847-848.

Over objection by the State, Lyles trial counsel Vieth testified that the State advised him that they would consider alternatives to murder if Lyle cooperated and testified, but his client chose to plead not guilty and go to trial. ROA p. 55-56. He said his client did not have the mask on. He noted that Jeter and Lyles were pointing to each other at trial as the shooter. ROA p. 55.

On cross-examination, Vieth clarified that his client's position was that Lyles only knocked on the door to get marijuana and had no mask or gun, consistent with Lyles' fourth statement. ROA p. 56. He claimed their position was he was not aware that Jeter was going to pull the mask and the gun. ROA p. 57. He confirmed that Spicer knew his client. Lyles had claimed he did not know the attempted robbery would happen. ROA p. 58.

Vieth stated that his client's pre-trial offer was only if his client cooperated and was the one to cut a deal and that it was not contingent on Jeter's alleged offer. ROA p. 57. However, at the proceeding he did not recall the trial discussion or matters related to the acquiring of the gun by Jeter's mother. ROA p. 58-59.

Janet Vogelsang, a forensic social work expert, testified she performed a bio-social assessment. ROA p. 60. Vogelsang interviewed Jeter and a number of his family members and friends. ROA p. 62-63. She also reviewed school records, D.J.J. and S.C.D.C, D.S.S. records, his parent's divorce records, and his mother's medical records. ROA p. 63-64.

Vogelsang reported that Jeter's mother's side was a large, loving, extended family in a community with emphasis on education. Originally from Bronx, N.Y., they settled in Spartanburg. ROA p. 64. Jeter has a brother who is three years older. She found when just prior to when Jeter

was born, it had been a happy marriage with hopes and dreams, but declined after she became pregnant with Jeter. Jeter's father had begun using crack cocaine which led to a violent relationship and dissolution of the marriage. ROA p. 66-67. Jeter initially developed pneumonia leading to a collapsed lung at 3 ½ months of age. ROA p. 67. At 5 months old, he was taken to the hospital after he had allegedly fallen from the car and hit his head on the pavement, resulting in a skull fracture. At that visit, he had pneumonia again. ROA p. 68. Another incident resulted in a referral to D.S.S. when the parents were fighting and his mother picked up an iron meaning to hit his father but hit Jeter in the forehead. ROA p. 68. This referral also resulted in the agency learning his father was addicted to drugs and had been in a psychiatric hospital. ROA p. 68.

After the family broke apart, his mother had to provide for her two boys because the father was not good about paying child support. Although they allegedly still loved each other, attempts at reconciliation did not work. ROA p. 69.

According to Vogelsang, this early conflict in life impacted upon Jeter's child development. ROA p. 69. She found his school records showed his conduct deteriorated in the fourth grade, yet he still maintained good grades after the divorce. ROA p. 71. After his mother was arrested for assault and jailed, he still received A's and B's, but poor inconsistent conduct continued and he quit football. ROA p. 71.

As he reached middle school through the 8<sup>th</sup> grade, he received low conduct ratings, but no testing. Jeter began spending more time with his father in a rougher and violent section of the community. He was moved to an alternative school in 7<sup>th</sup> grade. ROA p. 73.

Jeter was arrested for assaulting a coach and he was sent to D.J.J. as a result. ROA p. 74. Vogelsang noted that predictors of juvenile incarceration are neglect and family violence. ROA p.

75. She referred to Jeter's situation as "benign neglect." His mother was not getting child support and doing the best she could, according to Vogelsang. ROA p. 75. However, she found there was no structure in the home. ROA p. 75.

Jeter's I.Q. was found to be in the low average range, which she thought was inconsistent with his higher grades. He was opined to have "oppositional defiant disorder" with no structure in the home, his daily use of marijuana, and his selling marijuana and crack as factors. ROA p. 76. D.J.J. records showed he was able to perform in a structured environment where he did work and respected authority and others rights. ROA p. 77. D.J.J. recommended family counseling, anger management, and decision-making counseling. However, there are no records supporting that this was done. ROA p. 77-78.

Prior to the incident, his mother had moved to a nicer area and working in responsible jobs, yet Jeter was left in an unstructured environment where he could do as he wanted. ROA p. 78. She found that at age 16, two days short of 17, Jeter was prone to engage in riskier behavior. With his freedom to go as he pleased with adverse influences, he lacked a mature sense of responsibility. ROA p. 80.

On cross-examination, Vogelsang admitted she did not inquire with Jeter about the circumstances of the crime. ROA p. 83. On re-direct, Vogelsang noted that emotional intelligence did not have anything to do with academic intelligence. ROA p. 84. Vogelsang confirmed most people do not commit murder. ROA p. 85.

Jeter's mother, Sherry Johnson, testified that she had raised her sons on her own. ROA p. 87. She stated sometimes she had to work late or second shift. ROA p. 87-88. She claimed Jeter did take a few anger management classes that she attended. ROA p. 88. Prior to alternative school,

she claimed she was not contacted about Jeter's behavior problems. ROA p.89. She stated she wanted to do the best she could for him. She learned when he lived with her husband Tommy, that he had several interactions with the police. ROA p. 91.

She said when he was taken by the police to be interviewed, she was not in the room. ROA p. 91-92. His mother made a statement in mitigation that she grieves for the victims and grieves for her son who has a life sentence and thinks about the victim's family all the time. ROA p. 93.

Jeter's aunt, Linda Askari, testified Jeter spent many nights at her home. ROA p. 94-95. She stated Jeter told her that he needed a place to sleep and that no one was at his home. ROA p. 94. He would arrive around 10p.m. ROA p. 95. This happened when he was too young to be out, particularly in a bad, unsafe neighborhood. ROA p. 96.

Bishop Cathaye Jones testified that Jeter participated in his after-school program and little league football for a couple of years from 9 through 12 years old. ROA p. 97. However, he noted that Jeter struggled and fell off from regular contact with him and his programs and he had to search for him which was a task. He found that Jeter was "adrift". ROA p. 99.

Cousin Rashad Moore is about the same age as Jeter. He stated he grew up in the same neighborhood with Jeter and attended elementary school with him. ROA p. 100-101. Moore graduated from Boiling Springs High School and went to college. He presently works for D.S.S. He recalled when he was 16, this incident occurred and noted within two weeks he had lost three cousins. ROA p. 101. He described up to then he thought they were young and nothing was going to happen to them. It opened up his eyes to the effect it had on family and other families. Up to then, he was going to do whatever he wanted to do regardless of the fact. ROA p. 102. He stated the 2008 event was one of his own motivations in life and led to his being active in the community.

He said he did this “so that no other family has to experience it”. ROA p.103, l. 7-8. He said he tells kids about his incident and that they received life sentences and was life changing. ROA p. 103, l.9-14.

On cross-examination, Moore acknowledged that he grew up in the same environment as Jeter and followed a different path. ROA p.104. Moore stated he was fortunate to where he did not end up in the situation, although he conceded he had encounters with law enforcement. ROA p. 104.

Joshua Jeter was the final witness at the Aiken v. Byars hearing. He stated that when he was growing up after age 13, no one was really in charge of him because his mother was always working. ROA p.105. He recalled spending time with his father when he was alone and on the street and that he felt lost. [although the forensic social worker noted that Jeter had been punched in the face while in school, he had no vivid memory of the incident. ROA p. 106].

Jeter acknowledged that he had been incarcerated at various institutions, including Lee Correctional Institution, McCormick Correctional Institution, Perry Correctional Institution, as well as Broad River Correctional Institution where he was presently. ROA p.102-102. He claimed to have been stabbed multiple times, including July 2016. He admitted that around a month and a half later, they found a weapon in his cell. He asserted he had the weapon because being incarcerated “around all those dopes, I had to have something to protect myself cause I’ve been stabbed I seen a king of people get stabbed”. ROA p.107. He claimed to have thought about what happened in 2008 every day for 17 years. Concerning what he thought about it was for the situation never to have occurred. He claimed he cannot pray enough or ask God for forgiveness enough for it. “Like I say, my family, the victim’s family, Howze’s family, I know everybody hurting”. ROA

p. 107-108. He claimed to not understand why the situation happened or why he had to be a part of it. He claimed to be striving better.

As far as what he wanted to do if he got out, he claimed he wanted to help people prevent gun violence like what happened to me. ROA p. 108, l. 13-14 (emphasis added). He also wanted to raise his son, have more children and be a success story. [At the time of hearing, Jeter was 33 and his son was 16. ROA p. 108].

On cross-examination, Jeter denied that the .25 weapon was not the gun he had at the incident. ROA p.109. He claimed it was the weapon. ROA p.109-110. Jeter denied stating in March 2006 that it was not the gun. ROA p.110. Jeter claimed to take responsibility for everything he did, including that he was there and brought a gun. ROA p.110. He denied that there was intent to rob or burglarize Mr. Spicer's home. However, he admitted having a mask on and bringing a gun. ROA p.110-111. He then claimed he was "merely present." ROA p.111. He denied that the gun he claimed to have gotten on the basketball court was actually Aunt Lilly's gun. ROA p.111 See ROA p.604 (mother Sherry Hardy testifying that she spoke with her son stating the gun was Grandma Lilly's gun). Jeter stated that he was there and a reckless situation occurred with no plan, but "just a reckless disregard for life or whatever happened." ROA p.112, l.6-13. He stated that he and Lyles were friends and he went with him that night and the Lyles knew Spicer and had his face exposed. Jeter claimed, contrary to the trial record, that he was standing in another area possibly 30 feet away. ROA p.113. [At trial, Jeter testified he was 5 to 7 feet from the door. ROA p. 586, l.23-25]. However, when confronted that there was not enough room for that, Jeter pivoted and stated he was standing by the balcony's door around 24 feet. ROA p. 113.

Jeter claimed that he was merely present and told his mother that Lyles shot the victim and that his mother turned him in. ROA p.114. However, the solicitor pointed out that this was in the

third statement. But, Jeter had claimed at trial that the third statement was a half-truth. ROA p. 114. See ROA p. 382, l. 8-12 (“half of it”). Jeter concluded his hearing testimony concerning whether he was taking responsibility for what he did as follow:

If you’re asking me did I murder someone, no I did not  
Murder no one. So I can’t take responsibility for nothing  
I didn’t do.

ROA p. 115, l. 25 – 116, l. 2.

## ARGUMENT

- I. **Where the Appellant was sentenced to a 50 year sentence and vacated a life without parole sentence for murder in an *Aiken v Byars* proceeding and no specific objection is made to the sentence at the in person sentencing proceeding after the written order was entered which is within the statutory mandates for murder, the matters raised herein are not preserved for appellate review where no exceptional circumstances exist and there is no concession by the State that this is an illegal sentence.**

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